IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

SOUTHEASTERN UNIVERSITY OF THESC Case No.: SC01-969 HEALTH SCIENCES, INC., d/b/a DCA Case No.: 3D98-2674 COLLEGE OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE,

Petitioner/Defendant,

vs.

KEITH M. SHARICK,

Respondent/Plaintiff.

BRIEF ON THE MERITS BY PETITIONER, SOUTHEASTERN UNIVERSITY OF THE HEALTH SCIENCES, INC.,

> JOHN BERANEK Florida Bar No. 05419 Ausley & McMullen Post Office Box 391 227 South Calhoun Street (32301) Tallahassee, Florida 32302 850/222-9115

THOMAS PANZA MARK HENDRICKS Panza, Maurer, Maynard & Neel, P.A. NationsBank Building, 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor 3600 N. Federal Highway Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33308 954/390-0100

Attorneys for Petitioner

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

It is unfortunately necessary to describe what occurred before the circuit court as the background for the multiple opinions and rulings issued by the Third District Court of Appeal on August 2, 2000, April 4, 2001 and April 18, 2001. This Court has tentatively accepted jurisdiction to review these opinions

<sup>1</sup> based on direct conflict. The supplemental record before this Court will be designated as (R. \_\_\_\_) and the transcript of the testimony before the trial court will be designated (T. \_\_\_\_). Southeastern University of the Health Sciences, Inc., d/b/a College of Osteopathic Medicine will be designated herein as "SEU" or "the University".

Before his graduation, SEU dismissed Keith M. Sharick ("Sharick") from its Osteopathic medicine program. A jury would eventually find this dismissal was arbitrary, capricious and without a rational basis. The April 4, 2001, dissenting opinion from the Third District described this dismissal:

Specifically, the record indicates that Sharick was dismissed because he: (1) 'was apparently unable to identify very fundamental signs and symptoms of diabetes mellititus'; (2) 'failed to examine the abdomen and suprapubic area of a woman complaining of lower abdominal pain and presenting with symptoms of a urinary tract infection'; (3) 'raised the skirt of a female patient without informing her that [he was] going to do so'; and (4) 'consistently failed to review charts properly prior to interacting with these patients.'

As a result of his dismissal, on August 17, 1993, Sharick filed a two-count complaint against SEU. (R. 1). SEU moved to dismiss this complaint and the motion was granted in part and denied in part. (R. 30). The count which survived the motion was Sharick's claim for outrageous conduct causing severe emotional distress. After numerous depositions and discovery, SEU filed a Motion for Summary Judgment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The opinions are designated herein as the Panel Opinion, the Concurring Opinion and the Dissenting Opinion. They are reported at <u>Sharick v. Southeastern University</u>, 780 So. 2d 136 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000), and <u>Sharick v. Southeastern University</u>, 780 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001).

arguing that the University's conduct did not rise to the level of outrageousness which would allow Sharick to go forward on these claims. (R. 151). During the hearing on this motion, the court accepted Sharick's oral motion to further amend his complaint.

On February 18, 1997, Sharick filed his Third Amended Complaint again attempting to allege intentional infliction of emotional distress, along with claims for defamation, breach of oral contract, breach of implied-in-fact contract, and breach of implied in law contract. (R. 324). SEU followed with a further Motion to Dismiss arguing that Sharick had again failed to properly establish the required elements of his claims.

On July 3, 1997, the court entered an order dismissing several of the counts with prejudice and granted Sharick leave to amend the only remaining issue before the court which was count IV for breach of an implied-in-fact contract. (R. 353).

Sharick then filed his Fourth Amended Complaint on July 14, 1997. (R. 355). He sought recovery for tuition losses, medical expenses, reinstatement as a student via specific performance, and past and future lost wages and/or profits. SEU again moved to dismiss. (R. 391). SEU contended that the damages should be stricken because they were not allowable under a breach of implied contract theory since they were not within the contemplation of both parties at the time of the commencement of the contract when Sharick entered the University as a student. Sharick, of his own accord, amended his complaint again and filed his Fifth Amended Complaint on September 25, 1997. Again, Sharick sought the same damages as in his Fourth Amended Complaint. (R. 391).

On October 28, 1997, Judge Fredricka Smith granted in part an SEU Motion to Strike and in her order stated that Sharick would not be entitled to damages for future lost wages and/or profits. (R. 401). This order also struck the claim for specific performance (reinstatement). As a result of this order and the prior order on July 3, 1997, the only count remaining against SEU was for breach of an implied-in-fact contract and the trial court further ruled in the order that the only money damages which Sharick could recover on that claim was reimbursement for tuition expenses paid to SEU, plus interest. (R. 401).

Trial commenced under the evidentiary restrictions of the pretrial orders. (R. 782-787). Sharick proffered certain evidence concerning his alleged damages. The jury was furnished a verdict form which contained only two issues and did not mention an implied contract in any fashion. (R. 791). The jury found, in answer to the two questions, that SEU had arbitrarily and capriciously dismissed Sharick and that Sharick was entitled to reimbursement of a portion of the tuition he had paid to SEU. (R. 791). A Final Judgment of over \$81,000 in favor of Sharick was entered and Sharick accepted full payment of the judgment. (R. 840). Sharick also filed his appeal to the Third District on October 15, 1998. (R. 837). The appeal sought only additional money damages and did not question the ruling from the same order foreclosing readmission of Sharick as a student.

By the Panel Opinion of August 2, 2000, three judges of the Third District Court of Appeal reviewed the entire trial and reversed the circuit court's pretrial rulings without recognizing they had been pretrial rulings. The court reversed and remanded the case for a new trial but restricted that trial to money damages only. The opinion held an implied-in-fact contract had been proven and that Sharick was entitled to recover for all of his future lost earnings, profits and lost earning capacity as a physician.

SEU filed various motions including a Motion for En Banc Reconsideration based on exceptional importance, a Motion for Certification of Conflict and a Motion For Certification as to Great Public Importance. By order of November 14, 2000, the case was scheduled for oral argument on rehearing en banc before 10 judges and the parties were allowed to file supplemental briefs. The briefs were filed simultaneously along with an amicus brief by the University of Miami, the Independent Colleges and Universities of Florida and the American Council on Education. These amici have also appeared in this Court and the amicus brief is here adopted and incorporated by reference by SEU.

Prior to the August 2, 2000, decision, no Florida court had ever held that a university student who failed to graduate and obtain a degree was entitled to recover from a university for all of his or her lost earnings and lost earning capacity and profits during the remainder of that student's working life.

<sup>2</sup> This dramatic and draconian ruling on damages for a "lost career" was based entirely on the implied contract of uncertain terms which the Third District Court of Appeal found to have existed.

Sharick was of course the appellant before the District Court of Appeal despite having prevailed in the trial court. The Sharick appeal was actually directed to the trial court's pretrial denial of his request for loss of future earnings and earning capacity as an element of damages in his suit for breach of implied contract. The contract was, of course, unwritten but has been found by the District Court of Appeal to have existed as an "implied-in-fact contract." The only issues tried before this jury were: (1) whether the decision by SEU to dismiss Sharick was arbitrary, capricious and lacking a rational basis; and (2) the amount of tuition Sharick was entitled to recover. (R. 791). The jury was specifically instructed: "In determining the total amount of damages, you may only award damages for tuition expenses." (R. 791). The jury could only award these damages in the event they found the University had acted arbitrarily and capriciously.

Although the jury concluded Sharick had been dismissed arbitrarily and capriciously, it is important to recognize what issues were tried and what issues were not tried before this jury. Because of the trial court's restrictive pretrial rulings, this jury never determined the existence or the terms of any implied-in-fact contract except to the extent of an implicit contract to reimburse tuition if Sharick was wrongfully dismissed. This jury did not find bad faith or malice and never determined any issues concerning any other aspect of this implied-in-fact contract. The jury did not determine or hear the issues concerning mitigation of damages by Sharick nor did the jury even hear evidence concerning Sharick reapplying for admission to SEU or seeking admission to some other university with an osteopathic program. The jury never determined Sharick could not be admitted to another osteopathic school. (See. R. 782-7, Motion in Limine to Prevent Evidence Regarding Causes of Action Dismissed with Prejudice.)

Despite the fact that much of the trial testimony was simply proffered by Sharick out of the hearing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The absence of any such decision was conceded in the Sharick briefs before the District Court. See Sharick Initial Brief of 3/24/99, p.10 and Sharick Supplemental Brief of 12/29/00, p.3 concerning "lost career" damages.

of the jury, the Third District Court of Appeal chose to rely in part upon that proffered evidence. This evidence enabled the court to reach its conclusions, as a matter of law, concerning the existence of the implied-in-fact contract for a degree followed by a professional career as a physician.

The jury awarded \$45,000.00 as a partial award of the tuition and interest and costs brought the final judgment to the total amount of \$81,850.94. SEU paid this amount to Sharick and he accepted the benefits of the judgment but still appealed.

After the Third District issued its Panel Opinion of August 2, 2000, the court further considered the case in an en banc oral argument before 10 judges. The court then left the three judge Panel Opinion in place but issued two further opinions and a further order on motions. <u>Sharick</u>, 780 So. 2d 136 and 142. These included a Concurring Opinion by a single judge and a Dissenting Opinion by four judges. A majority of the court (6 judges) denied the Motion for Rehearing En Banc without comment. Despite the issuance of the new opinions, the court had not ruled on the motion to certify conflict and the University brought this to the court's attention. Thereafter, on April 18, 2001, a conclusory order signed off on by only three judges was issued denying the motions for certification.

<sup>3</sup> Thus, the dissenting judges were not given the opportunity to rule upon the motion for certification of a conflict in decisions. The four dissenting judges almost certainly would have agreed that the Panel Opinion was in conflict with the existing law on certainty of future damages since they expressed this view in their dissent. These four judges were not shown as voting on the motion for certification of conflict.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The Petitioner SEU has sought review before this Court based upon conflict and jurisdiction has been tentatively accepted. The pure legal issues within the Panel Opinion are to be reviewed de novo.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> April 18, 2001 thus became the "rendition" date of the decision.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Third District Court of Appeal erroneously found the existence of an "implied-in-fact" contract for a degree in a suit against a private university by a student who was expelled before his graduation. The jury found the University acted arbitrarily is dismissing the student. The District Court found the former student entitled to a degree from the University and a career in medicine. The Panel Opinion imposed this unprecedented remedy of implied contract damages for all future earnings and earning capacity during the working life of the student. In imposing this unprecedented remedy based upon an academic decision by the University, the Third District has placed itself in conflict with the body of law governing the decisions of universities as to academic matters and the law of contracts requiring that all damages for future earnings be reasonably certain and not speculative or remote. The Panel Opinion recognizes that the court was very close to "modifying...this rule" on certainty of future damages. <u>Sharick</u> at 140.

Universities provide students with educational services which generally result in a degree. Universities do not, however, impliedly or expressly, guarantee their students a degree and most certainly do not guarantee them future financial success in whatever profession or job they might chose after leaving the university. Although the University does not agree that its conduct should result in liability, at most the remedy should be limited to tuition expenses and other pecuniary losses within the reasonable contemplation of both parties at the time any implied contract came into existence.

Florida law on contracts and future damages was violated herein because the plaintiff has nothing more than an unenforceable expectation and because the future earnings in question are too speculative and uncertain to support an award of damages. If the University did not meet an implied contractual obligation to this student, then the student has already obtained his appropriate remedy. Damages for tuition reimbursement have already been imposed and the plaintiff has already been paid these damages of over \$81,000. The rulings of the circuit court should be affirmed and the plaintiff should be left with the verdict he has already secured and accepted.

This unprecedented decision against the University will do substantial harm to all private universities and to the overall educational system of this state. Any failing student will be encouraged to sue his or her university. Juries will become the final decision maker as to every failed student. Indeed, even a student who graduates with a degree will have similar claims for a lifetime of earnings if such students are unable to find a lucrative position based upon their degree. The Third District decision violates the general and consistent law imposing judicial restraint as the guiding principle concerning academic decisions by universities. Public policy requires a reversal of this decision.

The implied-in-fact contract which the Third District Court of Appeal has held to have been proven was never tried before this jury. The jury did not find and was not asked to find any of the terms, conditions or the remedies within this implied-in-fact contract. The Third District Court of Appeal has imposed its own version of a contract and remedies without recognizing the limited nature of the trial which occurred based upon the trial court's pretrial rulings.

In the alternative, although the University argues for an affirmance, if there is to be a reversal and a further trial, then that trial should concern <u>all</u> issues. The terms of the implied contract and the remedies under that implied contract must be found by the same jury which will determine damages. The remedy must be limited to what these parties would have contracted for had they entered into an express contract. This requirement of Florida law or damages within the contemplation of the parties has been disregarded. The reinstatement of the plaintiff as a student at this University or some other university should also be left open as an issue in any further trial ordered by this Court.

# **ISSUES ON REVIEW**

- I. THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT CONFLICTS WITH FLORIDA CASE LAW REQUIRING DAMAGES FOR FUTURE EARNINGS TO BE PROVEN WITH REASONABLE CERTAINTY IN AN IMPLIED CONTRACT ACTION — SPECULATIVE AND REMOTE FUTURE LOSSES MAY NOT BE AWARDED
- II. THE THIRD DISTRICT DECISION VIOLATES THE COMMON LAW DOCTRINE OF RESTRAINT AS TO EDUCATIONAL DECISIONS BY PRIVATE UNIVERSITIES AND FURTHER VIOLATES OVERALL PUBLIC POLICY AS TO UNIVERSITIES
- III. THE IMPLIED-IN-FACT CONTRACT FOUND BY THE DISTRICT COURT WAS NEVER TRIED BEFORE THIS JURY
- IV. IN THE EVENT OF A REVERSAL AND REMAND, THE NEW TRIAL SHOULD CONCERN ALL ISSUES INCLUDING REINSTATEMENT OF SHARICK, THE TERMS OF THE IMPLIED CONTRACT, LIABILITY AND DAMAGES

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT CONFLICTS WITH FLORIDA CASE LAW REQUIRING DAMAGES FOR FUTURE EARNINGS TO BE PROVEN WITH REASONABLE CERTAINTY IN AN IMPLIED CONTRACT ACTION --SPECULATIVE AND REMOTE FUTURE LOSSES MAY NOT BE AWARDED

Petitioner, SEU is a private university offering a curriculum in osteopathic medicine. Respondent Sharick was a student who failed to receive a degree and sued the University. The University seeks review of the Panel Opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal issued August 2, 2000, and rendered April 18, 2001. This opinion was initially issued and after an en banc oral argument before 10 judges, the en banc motion was denied by the vote of 6 judges and further opinions were issued. There are thus three opinions from the District Court now before this Court. Conspicuously absent is any explanation for the denial of the en banc rehearing motion.

## The Panel Opinion

The Panel Opinion holds that Sharick, as an osteopathic medical student, had an implied-in-fact contract for a degree and that this implied contract was breached by the University's failure to award the degree based on an arbitrary and capricious decision by the faculty. The former student was held entitled to recover damages representing his loss of future earnings or earning capacity as an osteopathic physician for the rest of his working life. The opinion also holds Sharick is entitled to the profits he would have made as a physician. Thus the opinion holds the University promised both a degree and a career as a physician. The remand is for a trial solely on damages for the breach of the implied-in-fact contract which the appellate court

has found to have existed as a matter of law.

The Panel Opinion concluded:

Upon retrial, Sharick must be afforded the opportunity to plead and prove damages in the form of the loss of earning capacity that would reasonably have resulted had he received his DO degree.

The court based its overall ruling on the conclusion that an "implied-in-fact contract" for a degree existed because the word "degree" appeared in the preface to a student handbook. (<u>Sharick p. 139</u>). The jury was not asked to determine whether an implied-in-fact contract existed nor what the terms of such a contract might have been. As the verdict shows, the jury determined only that (1) the dismissal of Sharick was arbitrary and capricious; and (2) that Sharick was entitled to \$45,000.00 as damages for the tuition money he had expended. (R. 791).

The court expressly held that the student's implied contract claim for the loss of a medical career was already proven and that the damages were not too uncertain or speculative for recovery. <u>Sharick</u> at 140. In avoiding the rule on certainty of damages, the opinion relies primarily on the "modifying" affect of <u>Miller v. Allstate Ins. Co.</u>, 573 So. 2d 24 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). <u>Miller</u> is a unique case on proof of damages in a spoliation of evidence suit. The Panel Opinion also applies pure commercial contract law on "lost prospective profits" as the "yardstick" for Sharick's profits in his new business as a physician. <u>Sharick</u> at 141.

#### The Dissenting Opinion

The four dissenting judges concluded that whether Sharick would ever have been able to practice as an osteopathic physician was "beyond reasonable conjecture." <u>Sharick</u> at 145. The dissent relies upon <u>Slaughter v. Brigham Young University</u>, 514 F.2d 622, 626-627 (10th Cir. 1975) in concluding that Sharick should not be excused from completing all of his professional degree requirements. The dissent faults the Panel Opinion's analogy to prospective business profits and concludes that Florida law requiring that future damages in an implied contract situation be reasonably certain, constituted a complete bar to Sharick's claim for future lost earnings and a lost career. <u>Sharick</u> at 146.

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