IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

SOUTHEASTERN UNIVERSITY OF THE HEALTH SCIENCES, INC., D/b/a COLLEGE OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE,

SC Case No.: SC01-969 DCA Case No.:3D98-2674

Petitioner/Defendant,

vs.

KEITH M. SHARICK,

Respondent/Plaintiff.

_____/

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS BY KEITH M. SHARICK

RICHARD A. BARNETT, Esquire Florida Bar No. 257389 121 South 61st Terrace, Suite A Hollywood, Florida 33023 (954) 961-8550

DONALD A. TOBKIN, M.D., Esquire Florida Bar No. P. O. Box 220990 Hollywood, Florida 33022 (954) 923-9555

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

SECOM argues three points.

First, Secom cites one of the Third District judges who voted with the minority to grant en banc review to prove that there were "reasons for the dismissal" of Sharick. This issue was extensively litigated before the jury by both parties. The jury found not only that there were inadequate reasons to dismiss Sharick but that there was no reason to dismiss him.

Seacom had the opportunity to appeal that verdict to the Third District but failed to do so. It strains credulity for Seacom to now cite to a decision of no precedential value whatsoever so that this court might by suggestion review the jury verdict which SECOM saw fit not to appeal.

Second, Seacom argues that the verdict did not mention an implied in fact contract. However Seacom has conceded that the only cause of action that was tried in this case was breach of an implied in fact contract. When jury instructions were submitted Sharick did submit a jury instruction mentioning the contractual basis (Exhibit 1) the court chose to use Seacom's instruction,(Exhibit 2) but as a factual matter the record in this case is replete with the references to the Student Handbook for 1992 and 1993 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 3- Trial Exhibit 9- this brief pgs. 3-6) and the Student Catalog for 1991 and 1993 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 4 - Trial Exhibit 7- this brief pags 3-6) which laid out the basis of the relative obligations of the students and the University.

All this was litigated at the trial court level before a jury and not appealed by Seacom. Furthermore, the case law, as will be seen, is unequivocal in these college expulsion cases that the cause of action is for breach of implied in fact contract and when the Florida case law, albeit sparse, is reviewed, this will be obvious to the court.

Third, Seacom argues that the jury did not hear whether Sharick could mitigate his damages nor did they hear whether he could be admitted to another school. As to the latter point, the school administrator Dr. Neer testified that Keith could not be admitted to another school. Both these matters were issues of defense to be adduced by Seacom. It is highly inappropriate for Seacom to rehash these factual issues or tactical stratagems in this forum when Seacom should have brought forth these matters at trial or on plenary appeal.

I. THIS COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION OVER THIS CASE BECAUSE THERE IS NO EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT OF DECISIONS

Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution enables this court to review a decision of the District Court of Appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of another District Court of Appeal or of this court on the same question of law. Article V, Section 3(b)(3) Florida Constitution 1980; Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(iv). It has long been recognized that there is a difference between whether this court has jurisdiction in a case and whether this Court will exercise that jurisdiction.

Based upon the 1980 revisions to the Constitution, this court's jurisdiction is focused upon the power to resolve decisional conflicts in the body of the law.

This court has discretionary jurisdiction only if the decision of the District Court <u>expressly</u> conflicts with the decision of the Supreme Court or another District Court of Appeal. It is not enough to show that the District Court decision is effectively in conflict with other appellate decisions. The term expressly requires written representation of expression of the legal grounds according to the decision under review. Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980). The District Court in conflict must at least address the legal principles applied as a basis for the decision. Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis, 401 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1981). This court must look to the opinion of the District Court to determine whether the decision is in conflict and the opinion must be a majority opinion on the point of law that is the subject of the alleged conflict. Kennedy v. Kennedy, 641 So. 2d 408 (Fla. 1994).

Particularly applicable to this case, discretionary jurisdiction cannot be based on a conflict existing in a plurality opinion on an en banc hearing or rehearing because the opinion is not the decision of the court. Intra-district conflicts are now addressed by the rehearing en banc procedure.

In this case the Third District Court of Appeals citing 17 Florida Juris 2d <u>Damages</u>, Section 18, followed <u>Hadley v. Baxendale</u>, 9 Exch. 341. Thus the law of damages in this case harkens all the way back to early principles of English jurisprudence. That principle is universally accepted.

In this case there was a contract, the contract was understood to mean that for the payment of tuition and the attainment of the required academic and professional standards the graduate would be able to practice as an osteopathic physician. In fact, the very Student Handbook and Student Catalog that the University provided plaintiff Sharick in this case, unequivocally indicated that if he completed the course work he would be prepared to practice as an osteopathic physician. Thus the standard of damages was set.

But more important, there is no other case by any other District Court of Appeal or this court which has held to the contrary. This is because none of the other higher education cases in Florida, <u>Stetson University v. Hunt</u>, 102 So. 637 (Fla. 1924); <u>Robinson v. University of Miami</u>, 100 So. 2d 442 (Fla. 3d DCA 1958), and <u>University</u> <u>of Miami v. Militana</u>, 184 So. 2d 704 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966) ever reached the issue of damages. Their decisions with regard to their students were upheld by application of the strict protections provided to institutions of higher learning in the opinions of the appellate courts.

The Sharick case was the first case in which the student successfully challenged the University's exercise of power and thus the first case to confront the issue of damages.

There is no jurisdiction because there has not been another case in this area of the law where affirmative relief was determined to be appropriate which could form the basis of a conflict with Sharick. The only opinions which literally conflicted in this case were the opinions of minority of Judges voting for a rehearing en banc. This type of intra district conflict in the context of a denied motion for rehearing cannot be the basis of a conflict jurisdiction. The same reasoning would apply to a minority opinion of a three judge panel. Even though that opinion would conflict with the majority, it would not be considered as a basis for conflict jurisdiction because only majority decisions are considered on the point of law that is the subject of the alleged conflict. Kennedy v. Kennedy, 641 So. 2d 408 (Fla 1994)

In this case, it is the initial decision of the Third District that stands as the decision of the court and thus there is no conflict jurisdiction. To find conflict jurisdiction in minority en banc decisions would mean that every en banc decision of any kind in every District Court in the State of Florida could result in Supreme Court review based upon conflict. Sharick would submit that this was not the intention of the Constitutional drafters.

II. EVEN IF THIS COURT TAKES JURISDICTION THE OPINION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS IN THIS CASE IS CORRECT.

The Third District's opinion was grounded in the Florida jurisprudence of <u>Stetson v. Hunt</u>, 102 So. 637, 640 (1924) and <u>University of Miami v. Militana</u>, 184 So. 2d 701, 704 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966). These cases held that the terms and conditions for graduation are those offered by the publications of the college at the time of enrollment

"as such they have some of the characteristics of a contract between the parties and are sometimes subject to civil remedies in courts of law".

It was based upon these decisions that the implied in fact contract became the basis of the relationship between the University and the student.

In this case, the Student Handbook as cited by the Third District in <u>Sharick v.</u> <u>Southeastern University of the Health Sciences Inc.</u>, 780 So.2d 186 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2000) stated that the objective of the University was to offer healthcare science training, etc. <u>for the purpose of developing competent physicians</u> who can serve in all areas of our region.(italics added) The Handbook proceeds to identify Southeastern endorsed organizations whose goal is to produce osteopathic physicians. This was the evidence in this case.

The <u>Militana</u> case stated that a mere mistake by the University was not enough but rather it must be shown that the action in the matter complained of was wanton, willful or malicious. <u>Militana</u>, 236 So. 2d at 164. This was why in <u>Militana</u>, a medical student who barely passed from his first year in school, was on probation almost every year thereafter and finally was dismissed obtained no recovery because he was either correctly expelled or if incorrectly expelled not treated arbitrarily or capriciously.

Seacom argues that it has the benefit of the high standard that protects universities from interference with its academic decisions. This is the doctrine of restraint that applies in making liability determinations in the context of these cases. This has nothing to do with the award of damages in such a case. The University is being protected in the first instance by this extremely high standard of care that has to be violated in order for an implied in fact contract to be breached.

Because Seacom never appealed the jury verdict it asks this Court that if there is to be a remand to have all matters tried again so that it's failure to appeal would be rectified by the order of this tribunal. Even universities don't merit that much protection from their own mistakes.

The critical finding by the <u>Sharick</u> court was that the record in the case established that but for Sharick's dismissal from the University he would have obtained his DO degree. The Third District recognized that the record established a basis for the income loss for a normal osteopathic physician. These figures are readily available, they were proffered to the trial Court as the basis on which a forensic economist would testify. (Plaintiffs Exhibit Five- Trial Exhibit - Plf.. Proffered Evidence - 93-15077 CA-32 Preliminary Economic Report).

This is not to say, as the Third District noted in <u>Sharick</u>, that there are not other issues that can and should be litigated upon retrial. It is up to the jury to determine the quality of the resulting impairment to show its effect on earning capacity based on reasonable inference.

This Court must only determine whether the threshold legal test for certainty for has been met. Whether the various prerequisites to practice were reasonably certain to have been met. i.e. Part II of the Medical Boards, internship, licensure and any practice vicissitudes are matters for the trial court on remand.

The tort law corollary to the contract law rule on certainty is the finding of reasonable foreseeability of damage as a whole, the proximate cause issue, which is determined by the trial court as a matter of law.

The certainty finding required in a contract case for the award of future wage loss or lost earnings is such certainty as satisfies the mind of a prudent, impartial person

Here, it was in the contemplation of the parties that the consideration to Sharick was that in exchange for tuition, matriculation and compliance with all reasonable rules, Sharick would be educated, trained and qualified to be an osteopathic physician.

On remand, both parties will be free to present evidence as to what impact Sharick's academic and clinical performance may have had upon his ultimate success as an osteopathic physician. In other words, the Third District decision did not reach the conclusion that Sharick merely needed to introduce the economic conclusions of his forensic economist and the jury would be obliged to award it. Every variable that would impact upon his ability to earn more or less would be subject to litigation. If the trial court concludes that the evidence is uncertain as to any or all of the particulars then the court can direct a verdict or accept the verdict and enter a judgement notwithstanding the verdict and the parties could then appeal with the fullest possible record.

The <u>Sharick</u> court, supra p. 138 fn. 1 also recognized the obvious fact that no court could force the University to reinstate Keith Sharick and referred to the <u>Milatana</u> decision at 236 So. 2d 164, and <u>Robinson v. University of Miami</u>, 100 So. 2d 442, 444-45 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1958) where the alternative remedy of specific performance by mandamus was held unavailable to compel the granting of a degree where an educational institution has exercised its discretion in refusing to confer such.

. Seacom makes much of the fact that the <u>Miller V. Allstae Insurance Co.</u>, 573 So.2d 24 (FL 3d DCA 1990) case does not to apply in this situation. They argue that <u>Miller</u> concerned an express contract whereas here there is an implied in fact contract. Sharick would argue this is a distinction without a difference. Once a contract is found to exist, then the applicability of the rules regarding damages should logically not be any different than the rules cited in <u>Miller</u>. Seacom states that in <u>Miller</u>, which concerned a ladder disposed of by the defendant, that the defendant can't take advantage of the uncertainty caused by their wrongful acts. At bar, Seacom can't take advantage of the uncertainty it caused by preventing Keith from attaining his DO degree thereby preventing him from taking his Part II of the national medical testing, entering his internship and fulfilling any licensure requirements. The fact that he was prevented from achieving those goals and that now his accomplishment of them are uncertain is the fault of Seacom for wrongfully expelling him just as much as it was the fault of the party in Miller for destroying the evidence.

Seacom also tries to distinguish the <u>WW Gay Mechanical Contractors, Inc. v.</u> <u>Wharfside At Two Ltd.</u>, 545 So. 2d 1348 (Fla. 1989). The losses in <u>WW Gay</u> were losses due to the fact that there was unpleasant odors in the hotel. As demonstrated by the proffered evidence, it is quite straightforward to calculate losses to a sole practitioner osteopathic physician. The numbers are readily available and the parameters are relatively few in contradistinction to a hotel with unpleasant odors. At first impression the following issues come to mind. Where are the foul odors? How many floors, rooms are involved. Does the unpleasant odor affect everyone? Can some people tolerate while others can't? It presents a much more problematic situation for determination of damages than this case. And yet this court felt that the damages were sufficiently certain..

The Third District in <u>Sharick</u> did not grant any future damages in its opinion. It only granted Sharick the opportunity to present to a jury his evidence as to what that amount ought to be with both parties entitled to use all relevant evidence to contest the amount of damages.

It has been suggested that the relationship between Sharick and Seacom is a

noncontractual agreement to provide future income and profits. This is an inaccurate characterization. What was held by the jury in the lower court and not appealed was that there was an implied in fact contract that was arbitrarily and capriciously breached by Seacom. The Third District held in <u>Sharick</u> that being prepared as a osteopathic physician was within the contemplation of the parties at the time the contract was commenced. Further, that Sharick was entitled to be placed in the position he would have been had the contract been performed. These are contractual principles. As a result Sharick has the right to litigate future wage loss based on the same being within the contemplation of the parties at the time

There is no question that as to the determination whether a student should be expelled or placed on probation or fail the year or anything of that nature, both from a standpoint of academics or conduct, the University has discretion. As a matter of fact both <u>Stetson</u> and <u>Militana</u>, are clear that the discretion is so broad that the University cannot be questioned unless their determination is arbitrary, capricious and without any basis in fact. There can be no greater extent of discretion allowed than to permit the University to impose any sanction so long as there is any basis in fact to do so.

However neither <u>Stetson</u> and <u>Militana</u> pertained to damages, but rather to evaluating students in different circumstances. In <u>Stetson</u>, the student was a young

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